Running Head: APPRAISALS IN MENOPAUSE

Cognitive Appraisals, Symptom Severity, and Obtained Treatment During the

Perimenopause: A Retrospective Study

Suzanne E. Stone

Master of Arts Thesis

Lakehead University

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the degree of

Master of Arts in Clinical Psychology

Supervisor: Dr. Dwight Mazmanian

Second Reader: Dr. Kirsten Oinonen



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-31838-6 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-31838-6

#### NOTICE:

The author has granted a non-exclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or non-commercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

## AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.

Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manguant.



#### Abstract

Menopause is a prevalent concern for women ranging from the ages of 40 to 60, as it is often associated with significant amounts of physical and emotional distress. Previous research has shown an association between women's attitudes toward menopause and the decision to seek hormone replacement therapy (HRT). In addition, research has shown that women who suffer from many physical symptoms tend to seek HRT. However, there is a lack of research investigating how physical symptoms during menopause may affect the relationship between attitudes toward menopause and the decision to seek HRT, anti-depressant medication, or psychotherapy. The present study examined whether symptom severity served as a significant mediator between menopausal attitudes and the decision to seek HRT or anti-depressant medication during the menopausal transition. Ninety-five postmenopausal women completed a General Information Questionnaire, the Menopause Attitude Scale, the Menopause Representations Questionnaire, the Women's Health Questionnaire, and the NEO Five Factor Inventory. Results indicated that symptom severity significantly mediated the relationship between two menopausal attitudinal variables (general attitudes toward menopause and perceptions that menopause has had a negative impact on one's life) and treatmentseeking. Additional analyses revealed that women who sought treatment experienced more symptoms than those who did not, past reproductive events were not predictive of treatment-seeking or physical and emotional distress during the menopausal transition, and that those who had experienced surgical menopause had a more positive general attitude toward menopause than those who had experienced natural menopause. Further, it was revealed that a dissatisfaction with one's social life predicted both treatmentseeking and physical and emotional distress during the menopausal transition.

## Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Mazmanian, for his guidance and expertise. I would also like to thank Dr. Kirsten Oinonen for her comments and suggestions on both the proposal and final thesis. Special thanks to Kathy Gibson of the 55 Plus Centre, Rebecca Johnson of the Thunder Bay Women's Network, and Keith Nymark of the Thunder Bay Seniors Newspaper, for their help in recruiting participants for this research project. Finally, thanks to Dan and Judy Stone for all of their support and encouragement.

## Table of Contents

Page
Abstracti
Acknowledgementsii
Table of Contentsiii
Introduction1
History of Menopausal Research1
Theories of Menopause2
Stages of Menopause5
Signs of Menopause6
Measurement of Menopausal Complaints9
Predictors of Depression and Mood Disturbance in Menopause12
Predictors of Hormone Replacement Therapy Use14
Predictors of Psychotherapy Use During Menopause16
The Present Study17
Method
Participants19
Measures
General Information Questionnaire21
Attitudes22
Symptom Severity
Neuroticism23
Infrequency24
Procedure24

# Appraisals in Menopause

Data Analyses	25
Results	27
Data Screening	27
Internal Consistency and Reliability of Measures	27
Main Analyses	29
Supplementary Analyses	33
Discussion	37
References	48
Appendix A: General Information Questionnaire	56
Appendix B: Menopause Attitude Scale	61
Appendix C: Menopause Experiences Questionnaire	63
Appendix D: Women's Health Questionnaire	65
Appendix E: NEO Five Factor Inventory	67
Appendix F: Menopause Study Consent Form	69
Appendix G: Debriefing Form.	70

Cognitive Appraisals, Symptom Severity, and Obtained Treatment During the

Perimenopause: A Retrospective Study

Menopause is a time in a woman's life that brings about great change and often a great deal of frustration and confusion. It is traditionally defined as a woman's final menstruation, which occurs during the climacteric (Smith & Judd, 1994). The climacteric is a general term used to describe the phase of the aging process in which a woman passes from a reproductive to a non-reproductive period, consisting of three stages: perimenopause, menopause, and postmenopause (Smith & Judd, 1994). The perimenopausal period occurs when the menstrual cycle becomes irregular and when other symptoms begin to develop, and is often called the menopausal transition. Menopause refers to a specific event, a woman's final menstruation. Further, postmenopause refers to the phase of life that follows the final menstrual period (Smith & Judd, 1994). The standard confirmation of menopause occurs after 12 consecutive months without menstruation in the absence of any pathological or physical cause that would terminate menstruation (North American Menopause Society, 2003). Currently, women in the United States typically experience menopause between the ages of 40 and 58, with the mean age of 51 (North American Menopause Society, 2003). However, women may experience menopause anywhere between the ages of 30 and 60. History of Menopausal Research

Historically, menopause has been a topic of curiosity, although it was rarely discussed in the social realm. It has only been in the past few decades that some researchers have systematically studied the menopausal process and its symptoms. The term "menopause" was derived from the Greek words "men" (meaning "month") and "pauses" (meaning "cessation"). The term "climacteric" originated from the Greek term

for "ladder" or "steps of a ladder" (Utian, 1997). In the 4<sup>th</sup> century B.C., Aristotle and many other philosophers in classical Greece and Rome cited the age of menopause to occur between 40 and 50 years of age. By the 7<sup>th</sup> century A.D., writers were in accord that the minimum age for menopause was 35, the average age was 50 and the maximum age was 60 (Amundson & Diers, 1973). In the 18<sup>th</sup> century, treatment for menopause was aimed at alleviating psychological symptoms or curing the "diseases" that were thought to be tied to the menopausal transition. During this time, treatments varied from blood-letting to purgatives to the consumption of raw eggs (Utian, 1997).

The treatment of menopausal symptoms has become gradually more scientific, and in 1896, three reports were published on the topic of hormone replacement therapy (HRT) (Utian, 1997). Since that time, HRT has grown in popularity due to increased availability and demand, but has become increasingly controversial. HRT has been associated with complications including endometrial cancer, breast cancer, hypertension, and gallbladder disease (Smith & Judd, 1994). Currently, there is a wealth of information in books, on the internet, and in the media for women experiencing menopausal symptoms.

#### Theories of Menopause

Reproductive cessation has been documented in both human and non-human female primates, lions, and a number of other mammals (Packer, Tartar, & Collins, 1998). Thus, human females and some other mammalian females live for an extended period of time after their ability to reproduce ceases. This is not true for all species, nor is it true for human males who can retain their fertility until they are as old as 94.20 years (Silber, 1991). The menopausal transition is particularly noteworthy for humans because it serves as a significant outlier in normal reproductive progression. Given that the life

expectancy for females is 82.4 years (Statistics Canada, 2003), women are living an average of 32.4 years after their ability to reproduce ceases. Theories about menopause can help explain why this occurs and help determine if menopause is a simple anomaly or if it serves a specific evolutionary function. Currently, there are four evolutionary hypotheses for why the cessation of reproduction occurs in mammals.

One hypothesis posits that women experience menopause because they are living longer due to medical advances and associated decreases in mortality rates (Sherman, 1998). This can also be seen with mammals being kept in artificial zoo environments that live much longer than they would in their natural environment. Ultimately, menopause occurs because the lifespan has increased in mammals with a finite number of eggs (Austad, 1994). During the second trimester, the ovaries in the human fetus have 7 million ovarian follicles that have the potential to become eggs. When the infant is born, this number is reduced to 40,000, and about 400 develop into eggs and are shed during the female's lifetime (Baker & Bellis, 1995). These eggs deplete throughout the lifespan, and eventually menopause occurs when few eggs are left. In other words, the number of years that women are living is increasing, but the number of eggs that a female produces cannot be changed - it is fixed at birth.

A second hypothesis states that menopause occurs because age causes a deterioration of the once well-regulated physiological process of reproduction (Sherman, 1998). This process is similar to the degeneration of eyesight or hearing with age, or urinary incontinence with the deterioration of nerve and muscular bladder control. This occurs because a species has outlived the span of time that they were "designed" (i.e., evolved) to survive (Austad, 1994). This is also simply called the "senescence"

explanation, and support for this theory has been found in females of two mammalian species to date (Packer, Tartar, & Collins, 1998).

A third hypothesis is an adaptive evolutionary hypothesis positing that menopause occurs to protect the gene pool because birth defects increase with maternal age (Sherman, 1998). Therefore, mammals have evolved to stop reproducing after a certain age in order to keep genetic defects out of the population. Joseph and colleagues (2005) found that older maternal age was associated with higher rates of preterm birth, perinatal mortality, and fetal-growth restriction (see also Cleary-Goldman et al., 2005). This trend can also be found in other mammals. For example, baboon pregnancies are more likely to end in miscarriage after the female baboon reaches the age of 21 years (Packer, Tartar, & Collins, 1998). In addition to birth complications, genetic defects in offspring become more prevalent as maternal age increases. For example, the frequency of infants born with Down's syndrome compared to normal births increases from 1/1400 for women between the ages of 20 to 24 to 1/350 for women who are 35 years of age (Hook, Cross, & Schreinemachers, 1983).

Finally, the "grandmother" hypothesis proposes that mammals stop reproducing in order to best care for their offspring so the offspring will grow to be healthy and ultimately reproduce themselves (Alvarez, 2000). After an offspring is born, a mother must devote an increased amount of energy in order to care for a newborn, and may neglect other dependents. Menopause allows a mammal to stop reproducing and focus their attention on their already-present offspring and the children of their offspring (Alvarez, 2000). In evolutionary terms, this is essentially a form of inclusive fitness (Hamilton, 1964) or kin selection (Maynard Smith, 1964).

Despite the ability of various theories to explain disparate areas concerning the onset of menopause, a singular unifying theory has yet to be obtained.

Stages of Menopause

may occur at any age (Smith & Judd, 1994).

Women may experience either physiological or surgical menopause.

Physiological menopause occurs as a natural process as oocytes (eggs) in the ovary begin to disappear and the few remaining oocytes do not respond to gonadtropins such as luteinizing hormone (LH) and follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH). Surgical menopause, however, occurs when the ovaries are removed or from exposure to radiation therapy, and

After menarche and prior to the menopausal transition, women experience hormonal fluctuations according to a 28-day cyclic pattern. In a regular menstrual cycle, ovarian estrogen determines the cyclic pattern of both FSH and LH. Around the midpoint of the cycle, high levels of estrogen allow the walls of the uterus to thicken and signal to the pituitary gland to release both FSH and LH. Typically, estrogen levels peak at day 12, and FSH and LH levels tend to peak at day 13 (Coulam, 1986). After these hormones are released, ovulation occurs.

During perimenopause, hormone levels change significantly. The level of estrogens, which are involved in thickening the endometrium and other aspects of menstrual regulation, drop off significantly during this time. In addition, the levels of androgen also plummet (Smith & Judd, 1994). As hormonal levels change, cyclic intervals begin to shorten and ovulation becomes unpredictable (Prior, 1998).

Following menopause, the level of estrogen within the female remains low.

However, testosterone levels (an androgen) tend to increase in each decade that follows the menopausal transition (Cutler & Garcia, 1992). In addition, the gonadtropins, LH and

FSH, rise substantially to stimulate the ovaries to increase estrogen production. Due to the cessation of ovarian follicular activity, the oocytes become unresponsive to the gonadtropins and the FSH and LH levels in the body remain high (Smith & Judd, 1994). Signs of Menopause

Typically, the first sign of menopause that women experience is irregular menses, which occurs when both the amount and duration of menstrual flow decrease, eventually tapering to spotting and cessation (Smith & Judd, 1994). However, the cessation of menstruation varies between women. Some women may experience a sudden disappearance of menstruation and a quick course of menopause, while other women may experience a gradual cessation. In addition, some women may suffer substantially from the accompanying menopausal changes, while some are not bothered by them (Dennerstein, 1996).

The most common menopausal symptom is the hot flush, which is an uncomfortable sensation consisting of sudden flushing of the skin (Kronenberg, 1990). Women who experience hot flashes typically experience a feeling of heat or burning in the neck, face and chest area, which is followed by an outbreak of sweating and a possible feeling of weakness (Smith & Judd, 1994). However, the characteristics of a hot flash vary both between and within individuals (Kronenberg, 1990). Approximately 75 percent of women who experience menopause suffer from hot flashes and 82 percent of these women continue to suffer for more than a year (Smith & Judd, 1994). However, hot flashes may continue for up to five years for many women (Kronenberg, 1990). Hot flashes may last for an average of four minutes and can occur from one to two times per hour to one to two times per week (Smith & Judd, 1994).

Another common menopausal symptom is insomnia due to night sweats, the night-time equivalent of hot flashes. Sleep may be frequently disrupted by uncomfortable sweating, which may lead to various cognitive and affective problems including irritability and memory loss (Smith & Judd, 1994). Night sweats and hot flashes are not the sole contributors to poor sleep patterns during the menopause, however, as higher anxiety levels, higher depression levels, and lower levels of estradiol have also been associated with poor menopausal sleep patterns (Hollander et al., 2001).

Women experiencing menopause typically encounter many physical changes of the reproductive area. For example, vaginal tissue tends to become thin and dry, with less elasticity, leading to vaginal atrophy (North American Menopause Society, 2003). In addition, vaginal lubrication decreases, leading to painful intercourse and post-coital bleeding (Bachmann, 1990). Further, atrophy of the uterus, and regression of breast size may occur (Smith & Judd, 1994). These reproductive changes may lead to a decreased sense of well-being and may decrease sexual desire and pleasure. Moreover, some individuals may experience heightened anxiety during sexual intercourse, stemming from the physical changes of their reproductive organs, which may also lead to decreased pleasure (Bachmann, 1990).

Up to 30 percent of women experience urinary incontinence during mid-life, which may be caused by a decrease in estrogen leading to a thinning of the lining of the urethra (North American Menopause Society, 2003). Although not all women suffer from urinary incontinence, women experiencing menopause may feel the need to urinate more often, may experience painful urination, or may experience the need to get out of bed several times per night to urinate (North American Menopause Society, 2003).

Other common physical symptoms include thinning and loss of elasticity of the skin, changes in patterns of body hair, and a redistribution of body weight (Smith & Judd, 1994). Typically, skin loses collagen and elasticity with age, which results in wrinkling. These changes are particularly evident in the areas that are exposed to light, such as the face, neck, and hands (Smith & Judd, 1994). Women experiencing menopause may also notice changes in patterns of their body hair. Typically, there is a loss of pubic hair, as well as a loss of hair on the upper lip, chin and cheeks. However, there may be an increase in coarse, terminal hair on the upper lip due to the imbalance of androgen to estrogen that occurs during the menopausal transition (Smith & Judd, 1994). In terms of body weight, women experiencing menopause typically notice an increased distribution of fat over the hips and abdomen (Smith & Judd, 1994).

In addition to physical changes, menopause can contribute to psychological changes within the individual. Common psychological symptoms include a variety of mood states, including anxiety, irritability, depression, frustration, and fatigue (Rasgon et al., 2005). Moreover, these psychological symptoms may contribute to increased stress, or an increased vulnerability to stressful situations that may arise (North American Menopause Society, 2003). Harlow and colleagues (1999) conducted a cross-sectional study of 4161 premenopausal women and found that 43.2 percent of all women sampled reported a continuous two week period of depressive symptoms. Moreover, 22 percent of these women scored above 16 on the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D), and 8.6 percent reported scores of 25 or greater. It should be noted that scores on the CES-D do not necessarily indicate a formal diagnosis of depression, but scores of 16 and above do suggest a diagnosis of a major depressive episode or significant depressive symptomatology (Harlow et al., 1999). Further, a National Comorbidity

Survey found that 5 percent of women between the ages of 45 and 54 are currently suffering from an episode of major depression (Blazer et al., 1994).

Measurement of Menopausal Complaints

Given the scope and potential impact of the varied symptoms of the menopausal transition, it is imperative that the symptoms of menopause can be quantified and measured with some degree of objectivity. Indeed, a number of researchers have developed measures to assess the severity of menopausal symptoms.

One of the first scales developed to measure menopausal symptoms was the Greene Climacteric Scale in 1976, which was later revised in 1998 (Greene, 1998). Originally, the Greene Climacteric Scale was designed to rationally measure climacteric symptoms and the resulting scale consisted of three domains: psychological, somatic, and vasomotor. These factors correlate very little with each other and are assumed to be measuring separate domains. In 1998, Greene revised the scale by replacing and rewording items as well as breaking down the psychological domain into anxiety and depressed mood subscales. This scale demonstrates adequate content validity, as only symptoms with significant factor loadings were included, and construct validity has since been demonstrated in relation to life stress, HRT, and psychological treatment (Zöllner, 2005). Further, each of the subscales on the Greene Climacteric Scale demonstrates good reliability (Zöllner, 2005).

The second major scale to tap the severity of menopausal symptoms is the Women's Health Questionnaire (WHQ), which was published in 1992 (Hunter, 2003). This scale is composed of nine subscales including: depressed mood, somatic symptoms, vasomotor symptoms, anxiety/fears, sexual behaviour, sleep problems, menstrual symptoms, memory/concentration, and attractiveness. Concurrent validity for the

Women's Health Questionnaire was assessed through a comparison with the General Health Questionnaire (GHQ; Goldberg, 1972). The depression scale in the WHQ correlated .86 with the GHQ. For test-retest reliability, the correlations ranged from .78 to .96 across a two-week interval.

A third major scale, the Qualifemme, was developed to measure the effect that menopausal hormone deficiency has on a woman's quality of life (Le Floch et al., 1994). This scale has five domains: psychological, vasomotor, uro-genital, a general domain, and a domain covering pain and problems with the hair and skin. Test-retest reliability for the measure ranged from .84 to .98, with a Cronbach's alpha of .73 (Le Floch et al., 1994).

The Menopause-Specific Quality of Life (MENQOL) was developed in 1996 to assess menopausal symptoms, and consists of four domains: vasomotor, psychosocial, physical and sexual (Hilditch et al., 1996). The test-retest reliability coefficients ranged from .81 for the psychosocial domain to .85 for the vasomotor domain. The test-retest reliability for the overall QOL score was .55. Internal consistency of the measure ranged from .81 to .85. For construct validity, the authors determined the discriminate validity between each domain and a separate validating instrument and found that the validity ranged from .38 (between the sexual domain and its respective validating instrument) and .69 (between the physical domain and its validating instrument), indicating satisfactory construct validity.

The Menopausal Rating Scale (MRS) was also originally developed in 1996 and then later validated in 2000 (Schneider et al., 2000). The MRS is an 11 item scale covering three domains: psychological symptoms, somatovegetative symptoms, and urogenital symptoms. The MRS has demonstrated good construct validity with the

Kupperman Index (Kupperman et al., 1953) and the Short-Form-36 (SF-36; Ware & Sherbourne, 1992).

The Menopausal Symptom List (MSL) was developed in 1997 to measure the frequency and severity of menopausal symptoms (Perz, 1997). This scale is composed of three domains: psychological, vaso-somatic, and general somatic. Perz conducted testretest reliability analyses for the frequency of symptom occurrence as well as the severity of the symptoms. For the frequency of occurrence, the test-retest reliability for the domains ranged from .72 (for vaso-somatic) to .92 (for general somatic). For the severity of symptoms, the test-retest reliability for the domains ranged from .73 (for psychological) to .87 (for general somatic). The MSL was correlated with the Greene Climacteric Scale (Greene, 1998) in order to determine convergent validity. As expected, the MSL and the CSRS were strongly and significantly correlated.

The Menopausal Quality of Life Scale (MQOL) was developed in 2000 to determine whether the quality of life for menopausal women changes with menopausal status in addition to other medical and lifestyle variables (Jacobs et al., 2000). This measure consists of both positive and negative items in 7 domains: energy, sleep, appetite, cognition, feelings, interactions, and symptoms impact. The internal consistency of the measure is excellent with a Cronbach's alpha of .92 for the total MQOL and a range from .69 to .91 for each of the domains.

Lastly, The Utian Quality of Life Scale (UQOL) was redeveloped in 2002 to assess physical symptoms as well as a sense of well-being that is distinct from menopausal symptoms (Utian et al., 2002). This instrument has 4 domains: occupational, health, emotional, and sexual. The internal consistency of the measure as a whole is .83, and the test-retest reliability ranges from .75 for the emotional domain to .88 for the

sexual domain. For construct validity, the UQOL was compared with the Short Form-36 (SF-36; Ware & Sherbourne, 1992), and was found to be correlated with the measure.

It is clear that a vast number of menopausal measures have been developed, but each scale differentially emphasizes domains and employs varying response formats. It would seem that there is ambiguity regarding the best measured aspects of menopause and the manner in which they should be measured.

Predictors of Depression and Mood Disturbance in Menopause

For women, associations between depression and reproductive events throughout the lifespan have been extensively documented. As mentioned in the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-IV-TR)*, boys and girls are equally affected by depression prior to puberty, but depression becomes twice as common in girls after menarche (American Psychiatric Association, 2000). This elevated prevalence for depression in women continues into adulthood, and a significant proportion of women report a worsening of depressive symptoms during the luteal phase of their menstrual cycle (American Psychiatric Association, 2000; see also Brace & McCauley, 1997 for a review). In addition, an increased risk of depression has been observed during the postpartum period, as there is a rapid decline of estrogen and progesterone in the 10-day period following delivery (see Brace & McCauley, 1997 for a review). Ultimately, there is a high association between reproductive life events and an increased risk for depression. Following this trend, research has demonstrated an increased risk for depression in women going through the menopausal transition (see Avis, 2003; Dennerstein et al., 1999; de Novaes Soares et al., 2001; Stewart & Boydell, 1993).

Since depression is so prevalent during the menopausal transition, an extensive amount of research has been conducted to investigate the significant predictors of depressive symptoms during this period.

Dennerstein and colleagues (1999) conducted a prospective study investigating the variables that contribute to negative mood during the menopausal transition. They found that negative mood was predicted by baseline reports of premenstrual complaints, negative attitudes toward aging and menopause, and having only one child. They also found that the number of vasomotor and somatic menopausal symptoms, poor self-rated health, negative feelings towards a partner, current smoking, exercising less than once a week, three or more daily hassles, and moderate or high interpersonal stress also contributed to negative mood during the menopausal transition.

Harlow and colleagues (1999) studied the predictors of depressive symptoms in premenopausal women in a cross-sectional study. They found that menstrual cycle irregularities were unassociated with current or past depression, although premenstrual syndrome (PMS) symptoms such as insomnia, headaches, lack of energy, tension, and irritability were associated with depressive symptoms. Further, women who were widowed, divorced, or separated were twice as likely as married women to have symptoms of depression, and women with one or two children had a 30 percent lower risk of suffering from a mood disorder. Although the women in this study were premenopausal, the findings can provide valuable information as to what can trigger depression during the menopausal transition.

In addition to the factors mentioned above, cognitive appraisals and attitudes about the menopause have also been found to predict depression in the perimenopausal period. Hunter and O'Dea (2001) found in a retrospective study that perceptions of

control over the menopausal transition were negatively associated with depressed mood, and perceptions of negative menopausal consequences were associated with medical help-seeking within the past month. Moreover, Choi and colleagues (2004) found that perceived health status was an important predictor in menopausal depression, as was a negative attitude toward menopause and aging.

Predictors of Hormone Replacement Therapy Use

Surprisingly, little research has been conducted on the variables that influence the use of hormone replacement therapy in menopause. Currently, research pertaining to the prediction of HRT use focuses on physical symptoms, attitudes toward HRT, and the menopausal transition.

One commonly used model in the literature investigates the severity of menopausal symptoms and whether or not HRT was sought. Genazzani and colleagues (2002) compared characteristics of women who participated in HRT to those who had not received treatment. They found that women who participated in HRT were more likely to experience menopausal symptoms for less than three years, and suggest that women tend to seek treatment for bothersome menopausal symptoms, which tend to be more frequent during the early years of menopause (Genazzani, 2002; see also Fauconnier et al., 2000). Moreover, research has demonstrated that women who start HRT tend to report more frequent hot flashes, night sweats, mood swings, irritability, and sleep problems prior to their HRT initiation (Bosworth et al., 2005). Also, research has shown that women who initiate HRT do so to relieve some of these somatic and psychological symptoms, increase well-being, and prevent disease (Collins & Landgren, 1997). Similarly, Breheny and Stephens (2001) found that postmenopausal women who had never used HRT reported fewer visits to the doctor and better health than women who

had used HRT in the past or those that were currently using HRT. A strong weakness of this model is its omission of the attitudinal component for predicting HRT. Attitudes are extremely important in the decision to seek HRT, and this particular model does not investigate how attitudes may be influencing one's decision to seek help.

A second model looks at how symptom severity and attitudes toward the menopausal transition are related. Woods and colleagues (1998) found that women who experienced more menopausal symptoms, and who rated themselves in poor health were less likely to have positive attitudes (e.g., feeling as though menopause was an unwelcome reminder of aging) toward the menopausal transition. Moreover, they found that women who had the most severe symptoms thought of menopause as an endocrine deficiency disease and were more likely to believe that menopause symptoms should be treated with hormones (Woods et al., 1998). In addition, these researchers argue that their findings suggest that women's experiences during the menopause have a significant impact on their attitudes toward the menopausal transition, and how menopausal attitudes are formed (Woods et al., 1998). Other researchers have found that positive attitudes toward menopause were associated with fewer menopausal symptoms, or vice versa (Cheng et al., 2005; Papini et al., 2002; Rotem et al., 2005).

However, a third model does include HRT outcome as well as symptom severity and attitudinal predictors. Breheny and Stephens (2001) found that attitudes toward HRT and menopause were important predictors of HRT use, and they suggest that these attitudes may outweigh the importance of health variables. They found that a positive attitude toward HRT (e.g., "HRT improves the quality of life for women following menopause") and a negative attitude toward menopause (e.g., "a woman feels like less of a woman after menopause") significantly predicted HRT use, over and above age and

health variables (Breheny & Stephens, 2001). However, this study investigated women who had completed the menopausal transition, as well as those who had not yet completed the menopausal transition. It is possible that women who had not yet completed their menopausal transition had not experienced the worst of their symptoms, which would have confounded the results. Without properly measuring symptom severity, it is hard to conclude that attitude toward the menopause is a better predictor of HRT than symptom severity, as the physical symptoms that one experiences could mediate the relationship between attitudes and the decision to seek HRT.

One study conducted by Ekström and colleagues (2003) did examine the relationship between the use of HRT and attitudes, as well as measuring physical symptoms. However, this study measured attitudes toward HRT itself, rather than attitudes toward the menopausal transition. These researchers found that participants who decided to use HRT had a greater number of psychological and physical symptoms, and were less satisfied with their overall quality of life. The researchers used a logistic regression analysis to determine the factors that accounted for the association between attitude toward HRT and the decision to use HRT. Ultimately, they found that health related factors explained the largest proportion of the association. Although this study did look at attitudes, as well as symptoms and the use of HRT, they did not directly test the potential mediating effects of menopausal symptoms on the relationship between attitudes and HRT use. Moreover, this study used attitudes toward HRT rather than attitudes toward the menopausal transition.

Predictors of Psychotherapy Use During Menopause

Given the many physical and psychological changes that women experience and the high incidence of mood disorders during the menopausal transition, one might expect that there would be existing literature on predictors of psychotherapy or counselling use during the menopausal transition. However, a literature search was conducted using Medline and Psychlit with keywords "perimenopause" or "menopause" and "psychotherapy" or "counseling", and the results yielded very few relevant articles. The available research does suggest that psychotherapy can be a beneficial treatment option for women suffering from both physical symptoms and psychological distress. One study compared the efficacy of Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) with a supportive group program, and found them both to be effective treatments for women going through the menopausal transition, although CBT was found to be more beneficial (Ayen & Hautzinger, 2004). Other studies have found that psychotherapy is especially helpful for treating stress during the menopausal transition (Busari, Osiki, & Uwakwe, 2004), the frequency of hot flashes and the anxiety associated with them (Hunter & Liao, 1996), general psychosocial difficulties (Greene & Hart, 1987), and helping to diminish negative beliefs during the menopausal transition (Rotem et al., 2005). Additionally, it appears that there are a number of self-help groups on the internet for women searching for support. These support groups include www.power-surge.com, http://menopause.meetup.com/, http://www.menopauseadvice.com/, among many others. Despite the numerous online support groups and the few relevant research studies, the predictors of psychotherapy use during the menopausal transition have not been

#### The Present Study

systematically studied.

The purpose of this study was to determine the relative roles of both attitudes towards the menopause and symptom severity in predicting HRT use, anti-depressant use, and psychotherapy during the menopausal transition. As discussed above, Breheny

and Stephens (2001) found that attitudinal predictors of HRT use may outweigh the importance of health variables. However, Woods and colleagues (1998) have found that women who experience more menopausal symptoms tend to have less positive attitudes toward the menopausal transition and suggest that women's experiences during the menopause have an effect on how menopausal attitudes are formed. Although Ekström and colleagues (2003) have investigated the relationship between menopausal symptoms, attitudes toward HRT, and the decision to seek HRT, there was no research (prior to this study) examining the potential mediating effect of physical symptoms on the relationship between attitudes toward menopause and the decision to seek HRT, anti-depressant use, or psychotherapy. This study builds on prior research by investigating how symptom severity affects the relationship between attitudes toward menopause and the decision to seek HRT, anti-depressants, or psychotherapy. We hypothesized that symptom severity would serve as a significant mediator in the relationship between attitudes toward menopause and HRT and anti-depressant use. Specifically, we predicted that the relationship between attitudes and treatment-seeking would be significant, and this significant relationship would disappear after symptom severity was entered into the equation.

In addition to testing the main hypothesis, we conducted a number of supplementary or exploratory analyses to examine the role of other potential variables in treatment-seeking or menopausal distress. Specifically, we predicted that women who sought treatment would have more symptoms than women who did not seek treatment, that past reproductive variables would predict treatment-seeking during the menopause, and that our general rating of menopausal distress would predict treatment-seeking.

#### Method

## **Participants**

One hundred and twenty participants were recruited to participate in this study. Participants were recruited through newspaper advertisements, flyers, and community bulletins in the Thunder Bay area. In addition, participants from other communities outside the Thunder Bay area learned of and participated in this study through word-of-mouth, or through the Lakehead University e-mail communications bulletin. The advertisements sought women who had completed the menopausal transition (i.e., had not had a menstrual period in at least 12 months).

Participants were excluded from the analyses if the subject had undergone a hysterectomy (n = 22), or if they had undergone a partial hysterectomy (n = 2). Additionally, one participant was excluded who did not indicate whether she had undergone a hysterectomy. Demographic variables for these groups can be found in Table 1.

In total, 95 participants were included in the analyses. The women ranged in age from 49 to 88 years (M = 59.8, SD = 8.2). The mean for age at which menopause began was 48.5 years (SD = 3.7), and mean length of the menopausal transition was 54.2 months (SD = 43.7). The majority of the women were from the Thunder Bay area (53.7%) or other Ontario (26.3%) regions. Approximately 70 percent of participants were either married or living in common-law relationships, 14 percent were divorced or separated, 12 percent were widowed, and 4 percent were single. The majority of participants self-identified as Caucasian (92.6%), followed by European (5.3%), and Asian (1.1%). Approximately 55 percent of participants were currently employed, 40

Table 1  $Demographics - Means, Standard Deviations \ and \ Raw \ Frequencies \ (N=120)^{l}$ 

	Type of menopause			
Variable	Natural	Surgically-	Other	
		induced	( a)	
	(n = 95)	(n = 22)	(n=3)	
		Means and standard deviations		
Age (Years)	M = 59.8	M = 61.4	M = 57.0	
	(SD = 8.2)	(SD = 10.6)	(SD = 5.2)	
Age at Menopause	M = 48.5	M = 41.6	M = 49.0	
	(SD = 3.7)	(SD = 7.0)	(SD = 1.4)	
Length of Menopausal Transition	M = 54.2	M = 110.1	M = 87.0	
(in months)	(SD = 43.7)	(SD = 105.1)	(SD = 63.6)	
	Raw frequencies (percent)			
Area:		•	•	
Thunder Bay	51 (53.7 %)	11 (50.0 %)	3 (100 %)	
Other regions of Ontario	25 (26.3 %)	5 (22.7 %)		
Eastern Canada	1 (1.1%)	1 (4.5 %)		
Nunavut	-	1 (4.5 %)		
Marital Status:				
Married/Common-law	67 (70.5 %)	14 (63.6 %)	2 (66.7 %)	
Divorced/Separated	13 (13.7 %)	5 (22.7 %)	-	
Widowed	11 (11.6 %)	3 (13.6 %)	_	
Single	4 (4.2 %)	-	1 (33.3 %)	
Ethnic Background:				
Caucasian	88 (92.6 %)	21 (95.5 %)	2 (66.7 %)	
European	5 (5.3 %)	-	-	
Asian	1 (1.1 %)	1 (4.5 %)	_	
Other	-	-	1 (33.3 %)	
Employment:				
Employed	52 (54.7 %)	9 (40.9 %)	2 (66.7 %)	
Retired	38 (40.0 %)	9 (40.9 %)	1 (33.3 %)	
Not employed	5 (5.3 %)	4 (18.2 %)	· -	

Table 1 (continued)	Natural	Surgically- Induced	Other
	(n = 95)	(n = 22)	(n = 3)
Education:			
Some High School	5 (5.3 %)	3 (13.6 %)	1 (33.3%)
High school diploma	13 (13.7 %)	3 (13.6 %)	1 (33.370)
Some college	5 (5.3 %)	1 (4.5 %)	_
College diploma	17 (17.9 %)	7 (31.8%)	2 (66.7 %)
Some university	11 (11.6 %)	2 (9.1 %)	-
Undergraduate Degree	27 (28.4 %)	4 (18.2 %)	_
Master's Degree	15 (15.8 %)	2 (9.1 %)	-
Doctoral Degree	1 (1.1 %)	-	-
Type of Questionnaire:			
Paper	59 (62.1 %)	16 (72.7 %)	3 (100 %)
Online	36 (37.9 %)	6 (27.3 %)	-

Note: This table contains missing data due to unanswered items

percent were retired and approximately 5 percent were unemployed. The majority of participants had obtained their undergraduate degree as the highest level of achieved education (28.4%), followed by those achieving a college diploma (17.9%), and those achieving a Master's Degree (15.8%). Approximately 62 percent of participants filled out the paper-and-pencil version of the questionnaire, while approximately 38 percent filled the questionnaire out online.

### Measures

General Information Questionnaire. In order to obtain demographic information and information about each participant's menstrual history, a General Information Questionnaire was created, and can be found in Appendix A. This questionnaire included questions tapping areas that have been found to be associated with depressive symptoms during the menopause such as perceived stress, number of children, level of exercise and work satisfaction, among others (see Choi et al., 2004; Dennerstein et al., 1999;

Dennerstein et al., 2002; Harlow et al., 1999). Also included were variables found to predict the decision to seek HRT, such as educational attainment and socioeconomic status (see Bosworth et al., 2005; Ekström et al., 2003; Fauconnier et al., 2000). In addition, this questionnaire included questions regarding the participants' sexual and reproductive history.

Attitudes. To measure participants' attitudes toward the menopausal transition in general, the Menopause Attitude Scale (MAS; Bowles, 1986) was utilized, which can be found in Appendix B. This scale consists of 20 items, or 20 pairs of adjectives describing feelings toward the menopausal transition. Each item consists of a negative adjective with a response score of 1 and a positive adjective with a response score of 7. The total score of this measure was calculated by adding the responses. The Cronbach's alpha for this measure is .96, and it has a test-retest reliability of .87. The MAS has demonstrated convergent validity with the Attitudes Toward Menopause Scale (Neugarten et al., 1963) (r = .63), and discriminant validity with the Attitudes Toward Old People Scale (Ivester & King, 1977) (r = .42).

In addition, we used the Menopause Representations Questionnaire (MRQ; Hunter & O'Dea, 2001) to measure the participants' specific attitudes toward their own menopause, which can be found in Appendix C. For the purposes of our study, the name was changed to the Menopause Experiences Questionnaire. This questionnaire differs from the MAS (mentioned above) because it measures attitudes toward a woman's unique menopausal experiences, while the MAS measures attitudes toward the menopause in general. This measure demonstrates good concurrent validity as depressed mood on the WHQ (Hunter, 1992) is associated with negative perceptions about the impact of menopause (r = -.33) and beliefs that it will have a long duration (r = .33)

(Hunter & O'Dea, 2001). The test-retest reliability for this measure ranges from .54 to .92 (Hunter & O'Dea, 2001). The symptom portion of the MRQ was scored by summing the scores for all of the items (0, 1 or 2). The remaining items are scored on a five-point scale ranging from strongly agree (5) to strongly disagree (1) and summed to provide a total score. In order to score across separate subscales, the total score from each subscale is divided by the number of items per subscale.

Symptom Severity. In order to measure the menopausal symptom severity during the menopausal transition, the Women's Health Questionnaire (WHQ; Hunter, 1992) was used. As discussed above, the WHQ taps many menopausal symptom domains and has very good reliability. The WHQ is a 37-item self-report measure that taps 9 domains: depressed mood, somatic symptoms, vasomotor, anxiety/fears, sexual behaviour, sleep problems, menstrual symptoms, memory/concentration, and attractiveness. For this project, the original WHQ items were reworded to the past tense, because we were asking participants about their past experiences during the menopausal transition. The reworded questionnaire can be found in Appendix D. This scale has good test-retest reliability with correlations ranging from .78 to .96 (Hunter, 2003). The depression scale on the WHQ demonstrates excellent concurrent validity with the General Health Questionnaire (Goldberg, 1972) (r = .86). The WHQ was scored by adding all items, and then reflecting the total score. In the original scoring method for the WHQ, lower scores indicate more significant distress. We reflected these scores so that higher scores represented menopausal distress.

Neuroticism. The neuroticism subscale from the NEO Five Factor Inventory (NEO-FFI; Costa & McCrae, 1992) was included in our measures as a general measure of maladjustment and emotional distress. We included this measure to explore the

relationship between reporting menopausal complaints and neuroticism. This scale includes 12 items and can be found in Appendix E. The internal consistency of the Neuroticism domain of the NEO-FFI is .92 and demonstrates excellent convergent and divergent validity (Costa & McCrae, 1992).

Infrequency. Eight items were included from the infrequency scale of the Personality Research Form (PRF; Jackson, 1984). In the PRF, a high number of positive responses to the infrequency items indicate poor comprehension, carelessness, confusion or passive non-compliance (Jackson, 1984). This measure was included as a response style measure to detect non-purposeful responding.

#### Procedure

Ethical clearance for this study was obtained from Lakehead University's Senate Research Ethics Board, and recruitment materials were given clearance through the Department of Communications. All women who were interested in participating in the study received a package of questionnaires pertaining to their experiences during their menopausal transition. They were told that they would be participating in a study to determine how physical and emotional symptoms experienced during the menopause may affect one's attitudes toward the menopausal transition. The participants had the option of filling out the questionnaires in "paper and pencil" form or they could answer the questions on a secure website.

Before filling out the questionnaires, participants were required to read and fill out the consent form found in Appendix F. It was outlined that participation in the study was voluntary, that subjects could withdraw from the study at any time without penalty, and that all data would remain anonymous and confidential. After signing the consent form, participants filled out the General Information Questionnaire, MAS, MRQ, WHQ

and NEO-FFI. After the participants completed the questionnaires, they were asked to read the debriefing form found in Appendix G.

#### Data Analyses

Descriptive statistics were calculated and examined for statistical outliers, as recommended by Tabachnick and Fidell (2007). Outliers were defined as scores greater than three standard deviations above or below the mean. Preliminary analyses were conducted to determine the internal consistency and reliability of the measures.

In our original design, we had planned to analyze statistics on three types of treatment: HRT, anti-depressant medication, and psychotherapy. However, we did not use treatment through psychotherapy in our main analyses because too few participants sought this method of treatment during their menopausal transition (n = 5).

In order to use a single symptom severity scale for our analyses, a composite symptom severity score was created. This global symptom severity score was calculated by adding the Z scores from the MRQ symptom severity subscale and the WHQ total scores and dividing by 2. In addition, only one of our attitudinal measures, the MAS, yielded a global score. Therefore, we used the attitudinal subscales of the MRQ for our analyses.

As suggested by Tabachnik and Fidell (2007), we used a multiple regression procedure for our main analysis to identify whether symptom severity served as a significant mediator between menopausal attitudes and the decision to seek HRT, anti-depressants or psychotherapy. This procedure is suggested when the researcher has only two groups and sample sizes are approximately equal (Tabachnik & Fidell, 2007). In this case, the dependent variable was coded into no treatment (0) and treatment sought (1). In

addition, we used discriminant function analyses in order to obtain classification rates to supplement our multiple regression equations.

We followed the steps outlined by both Baron and Kenny (1986), and Frazier, Tix, and Barron (2004) in order to determine if symptom severity served as a significant mediator between attitudes and treatment-seeking. First, we regressed treatment seeking (the outcome variable) onto the various subscales of attitudes toward menopause (the predictor variable) in a number of regression equations to determine which attitudes were significantly related to treatment seeking. Next, we regressed symptom severity onto the significant attitudinal predictors to determine whether the mediator is related to the outcome. Finally, treatment seeking was regressed onto both the symptom severity and the significant attitudinal predictors to test whether the mediator is related to the outcome, and whether attitudes significantly contribute to treatment-seeking after symptom severity has been accounted for in the equation.

Exploratory analyses were conducted on the differences in attitudes, symptom severity, and treatment seeking for those who had experienced natural menopause and those who had undergone hysterectomies through a number of *t*-tests. Second, a multiple regression analysis was conducted to determine whether various lifetime reproductive variables (i.e., significant premenstrual distress, post-partum mood change) significantly predicted treatment seeking during the menopausal transition. Third, multiple regression analyses were conducted to determine whether demographic and sociological variables predict treatment-seeking. Finally, multiple regression analyses were conducted to explore whether reproductive and sociological variables predicted a general global rating of the menopausal distress (asked in our General Information Questionnaire).

#### Results

## Data Screening

Prior to data analyses, the raw data for all variables were examined for the presence of obvious errors and univariate outliers. Any values exceeding three standard deviations above or below the mean were replaced with this (*M* +/- 3*SD*) value. In total, six values were identified and replaced with a value representing 3 standard deviations above or below the mean. Specifically, one score was changed from the MRQ symptoms subscale, one score was changed from the MRQ negative impact subscale, two scores were changed from the MRQ relief subscale, one score was changed from the MRQ control/cure subscale, and one score was changed from the WHQ depressed subscale.

In addition, we examined the infrequency scores to determine whether any participants had endorsed over three items, resulting in an invalid questionnaire.

However, no questionnaires were invalidated as no participants endorsed over 3 infrequency items.

Internal Consistency and Reliability of Measures

Cronbach's alpha coefficients were calculated for all measures and their corresponding subscales. The internal consistencies, means and standard deviations of all subscales can be found in Table 2. The internal consistencies of all measures were quite good, although one subscale in the MRQ (long time;  $\alpha = .35$ ) and one subscale from the WHQ (sex behaviour;  $\alpha = .39$ ) did not perform well. The internal consistency of the MAS was .95, the internal consistency of the MRQ subscales ranged from .35 to .80, the internal consistency of the WHQ subscales ranged from .39 to .81. The attractiveness

Table 2 Scale Means, Standard Deviations and Internal Consistencies (n = 95)

Scale	Means	Standard Deviations	Internal Consistency
Menopause Attitude Scale	81.45	20.61	.95
Menopause Representations			
Questionnaire			
Symptoms	23.18	7.71	.80
Negative impact	3.22	0.70	.62
Relief	1.88	0.84	.64
New phase	2.92	0.91	.44
Short time	2.89	1.02	.77
Long time	2.67	0.80	.35
Control/cure	2.34	0.88	.61
Women's Health			
Questionnaire			
Depressed mood	0.25	0.21	.59
Somatic symptoms	0.40	0.26	.62
Memory/concentration	0.53	0.37	.62
Vasomotor symptoms	0.77	0.39	.81
Anxiety/fears	0.33	0.34	.74
Sex behaviour	0.52	0.33	.39
Sleep Problems	0.58	0.35	.54
Menstrual Symptoms	0.42	0.35	.69
Attractive <sup>1</sup>	0.29	0.45	_
NEO Five Factor Inventory	36.85	10.27	.87
Infrequency Measure	0.13	0.45	.47

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Note: single item scale, internal consistency not calculable

subscale could not be calculated because one item was accidentally omitted from the questionnaire, leaving only one item for that particular subscale. Lastly, the internal consistency for the NEO-FFI was .87.

#### Main Analyses

As mentioned above, three regression analyses were used to determine whether symptom severity served as a significant mediator between menopausal attitudes and treatment seeking. Following these analyses, the mediator was tested for significance using a macro program for SPSS described in Preacher and Hayes (2004).

First, various attitudinal variables were entered into the regression analysis in a stepwise method to predict treatment-seeking. Panel 1 of Table 3 displays the standardized regression coefficients ( $\beta$ ), R, adjusted  $R^2$ , and  $R^2$  change. Two attitudinal variables emerged as significant predictors of treatment-seeking: the MRQ Negative Impact subscale, adjusted  $R^2 = .11$ , F(1, 82) = 11.11, p < .01, and the Menopause Attitude Scale, adjusted  $R^2 = .08$ , F(1, 87) = 8.48, p < .01. Other subscales from the MRQ did not emerge as significant predictors of treatment-seeking. The correlations between all attitude subscales and treatment-seeking can be found in Table 4. When the MRQ Negative Impact Subscale was entered into a discriminant function analysis to predict treatment group membership (i.e., sought treatment vs. did not seek treatment), 64 percent of participants were classified correctly. Moreover, when the total scores from the MAS were entered into a discriminant function analysis to predict treatment group membership, approximately 65 percent of participants were correctly classified into their respective treatment groups.

Variable	R	Adjusted R <sup>2</sup>	R <sup>2</sup> Change	β
Panel 1: Stepwise MRQ Negative Impa	ct and Treatmen	t-Seeking		
MRQ Negative Impact	.35	.11	.12**	35**
MAS Total	.30	.08	.09**	007**
Panel 2a: MRQ Negative Impact and S	ymptom Severit	7		
MRQ Negative Impact	.70	.48	.48**	70**
Panel 2b: MRQ MAS total and Sympton	m Severity			
MAS Total	.29	.07	.08*	29*
Step 1 Symptom Severity	.38	.13	.15*	.38**
Symptom Severity	.38	.13	.15*	.38**
Step 2 Symptom Severity MRQ Negative Impact	.43	.16	.04	.33
Panel 3b: Full Mediation Analysis for M	AS Total, Sym	otom Severity and Tr	eatment-Seeking	
Step 1				
Symptom Severity	.38	.14	.15**	.38**
Step 2				
			01	
Symptom Severity	.40	.13	.01	.279*

<sup>\*</sup> *p* < 0.05 \*\* *p* < 0.01

Table 4 Correlations between Attitude Subscales and Treatment-Seeking (n = 95)

Variable Name	Treatment-Seeking			
MAS Total Attitudes	r	23*		
MRQ Negative Impact	r	31**		
MRQ New Phase	r	.24*		
MRQ Short Time	r	.00		
MRQ Long Time	r	12		
MRQ Control/Cure	r	.15		
MRQ Relief	r	.08		

Second, the significant attitudinal predictors were each entered into a regression equation to determine if menopausal attitudes predict symptom severity (the proposed mediator). Panels 2a and 2b of Table 3 display the standardized regression coefficients ( $\beta$ ), R, adjusted  $R^2$ , and  $R^2$  change for each of these regression equations. The first attitude variable, the MRQ negative impact subscale, significantly predicted symptom severity, adjusted  $R^2$  = .48, F(1, 65) = 60.98, p < .01. The second attitude variable, the total scores from the MAS, also significantly predicted symptom severity, adjusted  $R^2$  = .06, F(1, 61) = 5.54, p < 0.05.

Third, sequential regression analyses were performed on each significant attitudinal variable to determine whether symptom severity is a significant mediator in the relationship between menopausal attitudes and treatment seeking. Panels 3a and 3b of Table 3 display the standardized regression coefficients ( $\beta$ ), R, adjusted  $R^2$ , and  $R^2$  change for each of these regression equations. For the first regression equation, the Global Symptom variable was entered first, followed by the MRQ Negative Impact subscale. When entered into the equation, the Global Symptom variable was significant, adjusted  $R^2 = .13$ , F(1, 65) = 11.26, p < .01. When MRQ Negative Impact was entered into the equation, it remained significant, adjusted  $R^2 = .16$ , F(2, 64), P < 0.01, but did not significantly improve  $R^2$ , indicating that the Global Symptom measure mediated the relationship between the MRQ Negative Impact subscale and Treatment-Seeking. Classification rates were determined using a disciminant function analysis, which indicated that approximately 70 percent of participants were correctly classified into their respective treatment groups using both the Global Symptom variable and MRQ Negative Impact subscale.

For the second regression equation, the Global Symptom variable was entered first, followed by the MAS Total Score variable. When entered into the equation, the Global Symptom variable was significant, adjusted  $R^2 = .14$ , F(1, 61) = 10.57, p < .01. When the MAS Total Score variable was entered into the equation, it remained significant, adjusted  $R^2 = .13$ , F(2, 60) = 6.85, p < .01, but did not significantly improve  $R^2$ , indicating that the Global Symptom measure mediated the relationship between the MAS Total Score variable and Treatment-Seeking. When the MAS total variable and Global Symptom variable were entered into a discriminant function analysis, approximately 63 percent of participants were correctly classified into their respective treatment groups.

Finally, for both regression equations, we used a formula outlined by Frazier, Tix, and Barron (2004) to determine whether the relationship between the significant menopausal attitudes and treatment-seeking was significantly reduced after symptom severity was entered into the equation. According to Frazier et al. (2004), the mediated effect divided by its standard error yields a z score of the mediated effect. If this score is greater than 1.96, the effect is significant. For the first regression equation, z = -3.06, indicating that symptom severity served as a full mediator between MRQ negative impact and treatment-seeking. For the second regression equation, z = -1.97, indicating that symptom severity served as a full mediator between the MAS variable and treatment-seeking.

Supplementary Analyses

Comparison of Symptom Means for Women Seeking Treatment versus No Treatment

A *t*-test was conducted to compare whether women who had sought treatment differed from women who had not sought treatment in terms of their symptom severity

scores. Women who had sought treatment (M = 0.24, SD = 0.93) differed significantly from women who had not sought treatment (M = -0.28, SD = 0.90), t(81) = -2.56, p < .05, indicating that women who had sought treatment experienced a greater number of symptoms and/or more severe symptoms than women who had not sought treatment.

# Comparison of Means for Treatment Groups

A series of one-way ANOVAs were performed to determine whether the treatment groups (i.e., no treatment, HRT treatment, and anti-depressant treatment) differed in terms of symptoms experienced or menopausal attitudes. A significant difference was found between the groups for the Global Symptom Severity variable, F (2, 58) = 6.01, p < .01, with anti-depressant treatment group experiencing the most symptoms (M = 0.86, SD = 0.71), followed by the HRT treatment group (M = 0.22, SD = 0.86), and the no treatment group (M = -0.26, SD = 0.84). Another significant difference was found between the groups for the MRQ Negative Impact variable, F (2, 78) = 7.84, P < .01, with the anti-depressant treatment group experiencing the greatest negative impact (M = 2.62, SD = 0.71), followed by the HRT treatment group (M = 3.15, SD = 0.64), and the no treatment group (M = 3.46, SD = 0.61).

#### Reproductive Predictors of Treatment-Seeking

A number of reproductive variables from our General Information Questionnaire were entered into a regression equation predicting treatment-seeking in a stepwise manner. These included: age when menopause began, how long the menopausal transition lasted, number of times pregnant, number of biological children, negative mood change experienced during the postpartum period, formal diagnosis of postpartum depression, number of different sexual partners, age at menarche, mood change during puberty, characteristics of menstruation, use of oral contraceptives, mood change due to

oral contraceptive use, significant trouble associated with premenstrual distress (PMS), and mood change associated with premenstrual symptoms. None of these reproductive variables emerged as significant predictors of treatment-seeking.

### Social and Demographic Predictors of Treatment-Seeking

A number of social and demographic variables from our General Information Questionnaire were entered into a regression equation predicting treatment-seeking in a stepwise manner. These included: marital status, ethnicity, level of education, episode(s) of depression not associated with childbirth, whether or not participant smokes, satisfaction with social life during the menopausal transition, satisfaction with work during the menopausal transition, familial support during the menopausal transition, whether the participant was physically active during the menopausal transition. One sociological variable, satisfaction with one's social life during the menopausal transition, emerged as significant, adjusted  $R^2 = .06$ , F(1, 79) = 6.5, p < .05.

#### Comparison of Means Between Natural and Surgical Menopause

A series of t-tests were conducted to determine whether women who had experienced natural menopause differed significantly on the menopausal attitude variables, symptom severity, or treatment seeking. For the MAS total variable, there was a significant difference between women who had experienced natural menopause (M =81.44, SD = 20.61) and those who had undergone hysterectomies (M = 92.05, SD = 92.05) and those who had undergone hysterectomies (M = 92.05). 24.91), t(107) = -2.00, p < 0.05. This indicates that women who had undergone hysterectomies had a more positive general attitude towards menopause than women who had experienced natural menopause. There was also a significant difference on the MRQ Negative Impact Subscale for women who had experienced natural menopause (M =3.22, SD = 0.70) and those who had undergone hysterectomies (M = 3.24, SD = 0.74), t

(99) = 2.00, p < 0.05. This indicates that women who had experienced natural menopause felt that menopause had had a greater negative impact on their lives than women who had undergone hysterectomies.

## General Rating of Menopausal Distress

A number of analyses were conducted on a variable that served as a general rating of emotional and physical stress during the menopausal transition. This variable asked participants to rate how emotionally and/or physically distressing the menopausal transition was on a seven-point Likert scale.

First, a multiple regression analysis was completed to determine whether the general menopause distress rating significantly predicted treatment-seeking. The general rating of distress did significantly predict treatment seeking, adjusted  $R^2 = .13$ , F(1, 92) =15.36, p < .01.

Second, we entered 18 reproductive variables into a stepwise regression equation to predict general emotional and physical distress during the menopausal transition. One reproductive variable, length of menopausal transition, emerged as a significant predictor of general physical and emotional distress, adjusted  $R^2 = .14$ , F(1, 55) = 10.07, p < .01.

Third, we entered 10 social and demographic variables into a stepwise regression equation to predict general emotional and physical distress during the menopausal transition. One social variable, dissatisfaction with one's social life during the menopausal transition, emerged as a significant predictor, adjusted  $R^2 = .09$ , F(1, 79) =8.71, p < .01.

#### NEO-FFI Scores, Menopausal Symptoms, and Treatment-Seeking

The total NEO-FFI scores were correlated with all symptom variables to determine whether neuroticism is related to symptom reporting. The neuroticism scores

were only significantly correlated with two symptom variables: WHQ sex behaviour, r (91) = .30, p < .01, and WHQ attractiveness r(94) = .22, p < .05. Next, we entered theNEO-FFI total scores into a regression equation to see whether neuroticism significantly predicted treatment-seeking, but we found that the regression equation was not significant.

#### Discussion

The primary aim of this study was to test symptom severity as a mediator in the relationship between menopausal attitudes and treatment-seeking. Many studies to date have found a significant relationship between menopausal attitudes and treatmentseeking, as well as symptom severity and treatment-seeking, but no such studies have investigated the possible mediation effects of symptom severity on the relationship between menopausal attitudes and treatment-seeking.

# Main Hypothesis

The obtained results partially supported our main hypothesis. In our regression equations, we found that two attitudinal variables were significantly related to treatmentseeking, and our Global Symptom Severity variable. Moreover, we found that our Global Symptom Severity variable significantly predicted treatment-seeking. Finally, we found that our Global Symptom Severity variable served as a significant mediator between menopausal attitudes and treatment-seeking. Unexpectedly, there was an overall weaker relationship between attitudes and treatment-seeking, as only 2 of the 7 attitudes entered into the equation emerged as significant.

These results are analogous to Ekström and colleagues' (2003) findings, although there were some significant differences between the two studies. Although Ekström and colleagues did not directly test the possible mediation effect of symptom severity on

treatment-seeking, they did find that health-related factors explained the most variance when exploring the relationship between attitudes toward HRT and HRT use. Our study used attitudes toward menopause rather than attitudes toward HRT, and used HRT and anti-depressant medication for treatment-seeking rather than HRT alone. Despite these differences in measurement, it is clear that symptom severity is very important in explaining the relationship between attitudes and treatment-seeking, whether it is solely HRT, or a combination of HRT and anti-depressant medication.

Our finding that symptom severity serves as a mediator for treatment-seeking contradicts the findings of Breheny and Stephens (2001), who found that attitudes toward HRT predicted HRT use over and above health variables, such as physical symptoms experienced during the menopausal transition. However, when doing their analyses, these researchers used women who had passed or reached menopause. Although Breheny and Stephens (2001), found that health variables were less important as predictors than attitudes, one could argue that by using women who had not fully completed menopause, their results may have been confounded. It is possible that women who have not yet completed menopause may experience more severe symptoms in the future, and may eventually seek HRT treatment. In fact, Breheny and Stephens (2001) found that older women were significantly more likely to be using HRT than the younger women in their study. Our study analyzed women who had already passed the menopausal transition, and therefore had experienced the worst of their symptoms. Although a retrospective study introduces some bias, it ensures that participants' menopausal symptoms had dissipated, and there was no possibility that they would seek HRT in the future.

It is important to note that Breheny and Stephens (2001) measured attitudes toward HRT, while we measured attitudes toward the menopausal transition, which may partially explain the discrepancy with our findings. Although Breheny and Stephens (2001) found that attitudes toward HRT were significant predictors of HRT use, they found that attitudes toward menopause were not. This contradicts our findings, which is likely explained by their use of a different scale to measure menopausal attitudes. The scale they used yielded a total menopausal attitude score, while we used separate subscales for different types of menopausal attitudes. Although using a measure with many subscales is more cumbersome, we felt that a using such a scale would more accurately capture menopausal attitudes than a single polarized scale (i.e., positive vs. negative attitude toward the menopausal transition). It is likely that using a more comprehensive measure of menopausal attitudes yielded more information, and therefore, a stronger relationship with treatment-seeking.

Although we did find that two attitudinal predictors were related to treatmentseeking, our results indicate that attitudinal predictors were not as robust as expected. We entered many attitudinal predictors thought to be associated with treatment seeking (i.e., feelings of lack of control over the menopausal transition, feelings that menopause would last a long time, etc.) into our regression equation, but only two variables emerged as significant: general perceptions of the menopausal transition, and perceptions that menopause had a negative impact on one's life.

One possible explanation for this result is that our sample size was not large enough to detect significant attitudinal predictors if they were present. However, none of the attitudinal predictors neared a significant level, the closest being p = .10. It is likely that none of the other menopausal attitudes would significantly predict treatment-seeking with the addition of more participants.

A second explanation could be that we did not accurately capture menopausal attitudes with our MRQ scale, because we omitted one item on the control/cure subscale as an oversight. However, this variable did not near significance (p = .19), and it is unlikely that the missing item would have brought the control/cure variable to a significant level.

Third, it is possible that our study did not fully capture attitudes during the menopausal transition because of the retrospective nature of our questionnaire. It is possible that women had a different attitude toward menopause while they were going through the menopausal transition than they did when they had completed menopause. In this case, it is possible that women's attitudes may have significantly predicted treatmentseeking during menopause, but had since evolved, rendering them as non-significant predictors of treatment-seeking at the current time. However, we repeatedly reminded participants to remember and report menopausal attitudes they had at the time of their menopausal transition. Unfortunately, it is impossible to determine whether or not the participants followed through with our instructions. In the future, this problem could be remedied by conducting our study in a prospective manner, in order to track changes in menopausal attitudes as women progress through the menopausal transition.

A fourth explanation for why the attitudinal variables were not strong predictors of treatment-seeking might be because there is a difference between the attitudes of women who filled out the questionnaire online versus women who filled out the paperand-pencil version of the questionnaire. In order to follow-up on this possibility, we conducted a number of one-way ANOVAs to ensure that these two groups of women did not differ. The two groups of women did not differ in age, employment, symptoms experienced, or any of the MRQ attitude subscales. They did, however, differ on the

MAS. This indicates that women who filled out the questionnaire online had a more negative general attitude toward menopause than women who completed the paper-and pencil version of the questionnaire. When looking at attitudes based on their own menopausal experiences, these two groups of women did not differ. It is possible that women who preferred to complete the questionnaire online are more "computer-savvy" and have access to more information than women who completed the questionnaire through the paper-and-pencil method. If they do have more access to information, they may have a more negative attitude toward menopause because they are exposed to increased media coverage regarding menopause, health articles, or other women's accounts of their own menopausal transition. Because the MAS already emerged as a significant attitudinal predictor, we are not concerned that the difference between the two groups of women confounded our attitudinal predictors and made them less significant. Comparison of Symptom Means for Women Seeking Treatment vs. No Treatment

Our results indicated that women who had sought treatment experienced a greater number of symptoms than women who had not sought treatment. This is consistent with previous findings that women who start HRT tend to report more frequent hot flashes, night sweats, mood swings, irritability, and sleep problems prior to their HRT initiation

#### Comparison of Means for Treatment Groups

(Bosworth et al., 2005).

When we compared differences in means for women who had not sought treatment, women who had sought HRT, and women who had sought anti-depressant medication, we found that these women only differed in terms of symptom severity, and one attitudinal variable: negative impact of menopause. This is consistent with most of our other findings, although the differences in means for the MAS variable was non-

significant. This is likely because the MAS variable was not as strong of a predictor of treatment-seeking when compared to the MRQ negative impact variable.

# Reproductive Predictors of Treatment-Seeking

Our results indicate that past reproductive events did not predict treatment-seeking. This finding was unexpected because many previous studies have found a link between past reproductive events and depression during the menopausal transition (Dennerstein, Lehert, Burger, & Dudley, 2005; Harlow, Cohen, Otto, Spiegelman, & Cramer, 1999). It is likely that the discrepancy between our research and past literature stems from the fact that we did not measure depressive symptoms directly, but the decision to seek treatment for such symptoms if they exist. It is possible that many of the women in our sample suffered from depressive symptoms during the menopausal transition, but decided not to alleviate these symptoms by seeking HRT or anti-depressant medication. To ensure that this was not the case, we conducted a follow-up analysis to determine whether the reproductive variables predicted depressive symptoms during the menopause (measured by the WHQ depressed mood subscale). However, none of our reproductive variables emerged as significant predictors of depressed mood during the menopausal transition.

Another possible reason why we failed to find an association between past reproductive events and treatment-seeking is because this relationship was not our main focus. When we were developing our General Information Questionnaire, we were concentrating on obtaining broad background information. We included questions on past reproductive events, because we thought that analyses on these variables would be interesting and informative. However, many of these reproductive variables were composed of one item, and no definitive conclusions can be drawn without using a more

reliable measure. In the future, it would be beneficial to create and use a psychometrically-sound measure of past reproductive events when doing such an analysis, in order to ensure the reliability of the information gathered.

# Social and Demographic Predictors of Treatment-Seeking

One social variable, dissatisfaction with one's social life during menopause, significantly predicted treatment-seeking during the menopausal transition. There are two possible explanations for this finding. Women who do not have an active social life might not have alternative resources (i.e., support from friends and family) for coping with the menopausal transition, so they may seek out treatment more readily.

Alternatively, it is likely that women who experience less severe symptoms (and therefore do not seek treatment) may have a more active social life because they are less preoccupied with their menopausal transition, and more willing to participate in social activities. A prospective design might be helpful in disentangling these two explanations. Comparison of Means Between Natural and Surgical Menopause

Our results showed that women who had experienced surgical menopause had a more positive general attitude toward menopause than women who had experienced natural menopause. Further, our results indicated that women who had experienced surgical menopause felt that menopause had less of a negative impact on their lives than women who had experienced natural menopause. This is perhaps because women who had undergone hysterectomies could attribute their menopausal symptoms directly to the surgical procedure, while women who had experienced natural menopause may negatively attribute their menopausal changes to aging, loss of youth, or other events in their life (i.e., diet, exercise, etc.). However, other studies examining the difference between women who had undergone hysterectomies and women who had experienced

natural menopause have reported that women who experience surgical menopause often have a more negative view of the menopausal transition (see Dennerstein, 1996; Papini, Intrieri, & Goodwin, 2002; Sievert & Espinosa-Hernandez, 2003).

## General Rating of Menopausal Distress

As expected, the obtained results indicated that our general rating of physical and emotional distress significantly predicted treatment-seeking. This result is consistent with our finding that women who sought treatment experienced more menopausal symptoms than those who did not, and consistent with previous research that has reported that more severe symptoms predict HRT use (Bosworth et al., 2005).

Next, our results indicated that one reproductive variable, length of one's menopausal transition, emerged as a significant predictor of general physical and emotional distress. This finding is not surprising, as women who experience troublesome menopausal symptoms for a longer period of time are likely to experience increased physical and emotional distress.

Finally, one social and demographic variable, dissatisfaction with one's social life during the menopausal transition, emerged as a significant predictor of general physical and emotional distress. This is consistent with our findings that dissatisfaction with one's social life predicts treatment-seeking. As mentioned above, it is difficult to determine the direction of this association, and a prospective study would help clear up this relationship.

#### NEO-FFI Scores, Menopausal Symptoms, and Treatment-Seeking

We found that neuroticism was significantly correlated with only two symptom variables: WHQ sex behaviour and WHQ attractive. This indicates that women who tend to be more neurotic also experience more sexual symptoms during the menopausal

transition, and tend to feel less attractive than women who are less neurotic. It could be argued that attractiveness and sexuality are more closely related to each other than the other symptom variables. It is likely that more neurotic women tend to worry about their appearance to others, which would influence how attractive they feel, either physically or sexually. However, this is a correlational analysis, so no firm conclusions can be drawn.

Strengths and Limitations of the Study

It is important to note the limitations of this study, the first being the limited number of participants in the study. A larger sample would have increased the statistical power of the study. Another limitation is the retrospective nature of our research design. As in any retrospective study, our results were likely affected by retrospective bias. Although a prospective design would be ideal, time parameters did not allow for this. Instead, we tried to eliminate bias by continually reminding the participant of the time period to which the scales were referring. Finally, the majority of our participants were Caucasian, which may have influenced the results of this study. Although our recruiting materials were targeted to be inclusive and appealing to all ethnicities, few participants from other ethnicities volunteered for this study.

Despite the limitations of this study, there were a number of strengths. First, we used more than one measure for both attitudes and menopausal symptoms in order to gather a broad spectrum of both variables. Secondly, the measures we used were quite comprehensive, with many subscales, which provided us with more information to utilize in our analyses. Third, we gathered information from women who had undergone hysterectomies, which provided us with valuable and interesting information to carry out some supplementary analyses. Finally, we included psychotherapy as part of our treatment-seeking variable. Although we did not use this information in our analyses, we

did gain valuable information in that psychotherapy is not a common treatment for women suffering from distressing menopausal symptoms.

#### Directions for Future Research

In the future, it would be ideal to track participants' symptoms and attitudes in a prospective manner. This would clear up questions regarding some of the relationships that we found with this study, and provide interesting information as to whether one's attitudes shift over the menopausal transition. As mentioned above, it would be beneficial to have a psychometrically-sound measure of past reproductive events in order to further investigate the relationship between reproductive variables and treatment-seeking. Additionally, it would be valuable to have a more ethnically-representative sample of the population in future studies, in order to determine whether the relationships found in this study hold true for people with differing ethnicities.

Future studies in this field should concentrate on sources of menopausal information and other ways in which menopausal attitudes can be formed (other than via their physical symptoms). For example, it was interesting to find a significant difference in general menopausal attitude for women who completed our survey online versus those who did not. Future studies could explore this relationship further by investigating how influential the media and internet might be in the formation of attitudes versus the testimonies of friends and family.

In summary, the menopausal transition is a significant reproductive event for women ranging in age from 40 to 60. Moreover, it often causes a great deal of physical and emotional distress. Although previous research has focused on the importance of attitudes in women's decisions to seek HRT, our results indicated that symptom severity served as a significant mediator between menopausal attitudes and the decision to seek

HRT or anti-depressant medication. It will be important in the future for studies to use a prospective design in order to further explore the relationship between attitudes, symptom severity and treatment-seeking.

#### References

- Alvarez, H.P. (2000). Grandmother hypothesis and primate life histories. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology*, 113 (3), 435-450.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2000). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (4<sup>th</sup> ed.). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.
- Amundsen, D.W., & Diers, C.J. (1970). The age of menopause in classical Greece and Rome. *Human Biology*, 42 (1), 79-86.
- Austad, S.N. (1994). Menopause: An evolutionary perspective. *Experimental Gerontology*, 29 (3/4), 255-263.
- Avis, N.E. (2003). Depression during the menopausal transition. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 27, 91-100.
- Ayen, I., & Hautzinger, M. (2004). Cognitive behaviour therapy for depression in menopausal women: A controlled, randomized treatment study. Zeitschrift für Klinische Psychologie und Psychotherapie: Forschung und Praxis, 33 (4), 290-299.
- Bachmann, G.A. (1990). Sexual issues at menopause. In B. Boland & J. Cullinan (Eds.), *Multidisciplinary perspectives on menopause* (pp. 87-94).

  New York, NY: The New York Academy of Sciences.
- Baker, R. R., & Bellis, M.A. (2005). Human sperm competition: Copulation, masturbation and infidelity. New York: Chapman & Hall.
- Baron, R.M., & Kenny, D.A. (1986). The moderator-mediator variable distinction in social psychology research: Conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations.

  \*Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 51 (6), 1173-1182.
- Blazer, D.G., Kessler, R.C., McGonagle, K.A., & Swartz, M.S. (1994). The prevalence

- and distribution of major depression in a national community sample: the national comorbidity survey. American Journal of Psychiatry, 151 (7), 979-986.
- Bosworth, H.B., Bastian, L.A., Grambow, S.C., McBride, C.M., Skinner, C.S., Fish, L., et al. (2005). Initiation and discontinuation of hormone therapy for menopausal symptoms: results from a community sample. Journal of Behavioral Medicine, 28 (1), 105-114.
- Bowles, C. (1986). Measure of attitude toward menopause using the semantic differential model. Nursing Research, 35 (2), 81-85.
- Brace, M., & McCauley, E. (1997). Oestrogens and psychological well-being. Annals of Internal Medicine, 29, 283-290.
- Breheny, M., & Stephens, C. (2001). The importance of attitudes in predicting hormone replacement therapy use in mid-aged women in a New Zealand community sample. Women & Health, 34 (1), 29-43.
- Busari, A.O., Osiki, J.O., & Uwakwe, C.B. (2004). Rational emotive psychotherapy and basic information in stress management for menopausal women in three local government areas of Oyo State, Nigeria. African Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology and Sport Facilitation, 6, 14-21.
- Cheng, M.H., Wang, S.J., Wang, P.H., & Fuh, J.L. (2005). Attitudes toward menopause among middle-aged women: A community survey in an island of Thailand. Maturitas, 52, 348-355.
- Choi, H., Lee, D., Lee, K, Kim, H., & Ham, E. (2004). A structural model of menopausal depression in Korean women. Archives of Psychiatric Nursing, 18 (6), 235-242.
- Cleary-Goldman, J., Malone, F.D., Vidaver, J., Ball, R.H., Nyberg, D.A., Comstock, C.H., et al. (2005). Impact of maternal age on obstetric outcome.

- Obstetrics and Gynecology, 105, 983-990.
- Collins, A., & Landgren, B.M. (1997). Psychological factors associated with the use of hormonal replacement therapy in a longitudinal follow-up of Swedish women.

  Maturitas, 28, 1-9.
- Costa, P.T., & McCrae, R.R. (1992). Revised NEO personality inventory (NEO-PR) and NEO five-factor inventory (NEO-FFI): Professional manual. Odessa, FL:

  Psychological Assessment Resources.
- Coulam, C. (1986). Cyclic ovarian function and its neuroendocrine control. In D.N.

  Danforth & J.R. Scott (Eds.), *Obstetrics & gynecology*, (pp. 120-133).

  Philadelphia: J.B. Lippincott Company.
- Culter, W.B., & Garcia, C. (1992). *Menopause*. New York, NY: WW. Norton & Company, Inc.
- Dennerstein, L. (1996). Well-being, symptoms and the menopausal transition.

  Maturitas, 23 (2), 147-157.
- Dennerstein, L., Lehert, P., Burger, H., & Dudley, E. (1999). Mood and the menopausal transition. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 187 (11), 685-691.
- Dennerstein, L., Lehert, P., & Guthrie, J. (2002). The effects of the menopausal transition and biopsychosocial factors on well-being. *Archives of Women's Mental Health*, 5, 15-22.
- De Novaes Soares, C., & Almeida, O.P. (2001). Depression during perimenopause.

  \*Archive of General Psychiatry, 58 (3), 306-308.
- Ekström, H., Esseveld, J., & Hovelius, B. (2003). Associations between attitudes toward hormone therapy and current use of it in middle-aged women. *Maturitas*, 46, 45-57.

- Fauconnier, A., Ringa, V., Delanoë, D., Falissard, B., & Bréart, G. (2000). Use of hormone replacement therapy: Women's representations of menopause and beauty care practices. Maturitas, 35, 215-228.
- Frazier, P.A., Tix, A.P, & Barron, K.E. (2004). Testing moderator and mediator effects in counseling psychology research. Journal of Counseling Psychology, 51 (1), 115-134.
- Genazzani, A.R., Nicolucci, C., Campagnoli, P., Crosignani, C., Crosignani, C., & Nappi, C. (2002). Assessment of the QoL in Italian menopausal women: Comparison between HRT users and non-users. Maturitas, 42, 267-280.
- Goldberg, D.P. (1972). The detection of psychiatric illness by questionnaire. London: Oxford University Press.
- Greene, J.G. (1998). Constructing a standard climacteric scale. *Maturitas*, 29, 25-31.
- Greene, J.G., & Hart, D.M. (1987). Evaluation of a psychological treatment programme for climacteric women. Maturitas, 9 (1), 41-48.
- Hamilton, W.D. (1964). The genetical evolution of social behaviour: I and II, Journal of Theoretical Biology, 7, 1-52.
- Harlow, B.L., Cohen, L.S., Otto, M.W., Spiegelman, D., & Cramer, D.W. (1999). Prevalence and predictors of depressive symptoms in older premenopausal women. Archives of General Psychiatry, 56, 418-424.
- Hilditch, J.R., Lewis, J., Peter, A., van Maris, B., Ross, A., Franssen, E., et al. (1996). A menopause-specific quality of life questionnaire: Development and psychometric properties. Maturitas, 24, 161-175.
- Hollander, L.E., Freeman, E.W., Sammel, M.D., Berlin, J.A., Grisso, J.A., & Battistini, M. (2001). Sleep quality, estradiol levels, and behavioral factors in

- late reproductive age women. Obstetrics and Gynecology, 98, 391-397.
- Hook, E.B., Cross, P.K. & Schreinemachers, D.M. (1983). Chromosomal abnormality rates at amniocentesis and in live-born infants. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 249, 2034-2038.
- Hunter, M.S. (1992). The women's health questionnaire (WHQ): A measure of mid-aged women's perceptions of their emotional and physical health.

  \*Psychological Health, 7, 45-54.
- Hunter, M.S. (2003). The women's health questionnaire (WHQ): Frequently asked questions (FAQ). *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 1 (41). Retrieved May 10, 2006, from <a href="http://www.hqlo.com/content/1/1/41">http://www.hqlo.com/content/1/1/41</a>.
- Hunter, M.S., & Liao, K. (1996). Evaluation of a four-session cognitive behavioural intervention for menopausal hot flushes. *British Journal of Health Psychology*, 1 (2), 113-125.
- Hunter, M., & O'Dea, I. (2001). Cognitive appraisal of the menopause: The menopause representations questionnaire (MRQ). *Psychology, Health & Medicine*, 6 (1), 65-76.
- Ivester, C., & King, K. (1977). Attitudes of adolescents toward the aged. *Gerontologist*, 17, 362-366.
- Jackson, D.N. (1984). Personality research form manual. Port Huron, MI: Research Psychologist Press.
- Jacobs, P.A., Hyland, M.E., & Ley, A. (2000). Self-related menopausal status and quality of life in women aged 40-63 years. *British Journal of Health Psychology*, 5, 395-411.
- Joseph, K.S., Allen, A.C., Dodds, L., Turner, L.A., Scott, H., & Liston, R. (2005).

- The perinatal effects of delayed childbearing. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 105, 1410-1418.
- Kronenberg, F. (1990). Hot flashes: Epidemiology and physiology. In B. Boland & J. Cullinan (Eds.), *Multidisciplinary perspectives on menopause* (pp. 52-86). New York, NY: The New York Academy of Sciences.
- Kupperman, H.S., Blatt, M.H.G., Wiesbaden, H., & Filler, W. (1953). Comparative clinical evaluation of estrogen preparations by the menopausal and amenorrhoeal indices. *Journal of Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 13, 688-703.
- Le Floch, J.P., Colau, J.C., & Zartarian, M. (1994). Validation d'une méthode d'evaluation de la qualité de vie en menopause. References en Gynecologie Obstétrique, 2, 179-188.
- Maynard Smith, J. (1964). Group selection and kin selection, *Nature*, 201, 261-279.
- Neugarten, B., Wood, V., Kraines, R., & Loomis, B. (1963). Women's attitudes toward the menopause. *Vita Humana*, 6, 140-151.
- North American Menopause Society (2003). *The menopause guidebook*. Retrieved

  January 27<sup>th</sup>, 2006 from

  http://www.menopause.org/edumaterials/guidebook/mgtoc.htm
- Packer, C., Tatar, M., & Collins, A. (1998). Reproductive cessation in female mammals.

  Nature, 392, 807-811.
- Papini, D.R., Intrieri, R.C., & Goodwin, P.E. (2002). Attitude toward menopause among married middle-aged adults. Women & Health, 36 (4), 55-68.
- Perz, J.M. (1997). Development of the menopause symptom list: A factor analytic study of menopause associated symptoms. *Women & Health*, 25 (1), 53-68.
- Preacher, K.J., & Hayes, A.F. (2004). SPSS and SAS procedures for estimating indirect

- effects in simple mediation models. Behavior Research Methods, Instruments, & Computers, 36 (4), 717-731.
- Prior, J.C. (1998). Perimenopause: The complex endocrinology of the menopausal transition. *Endocrine Reviews*, 19 (4), 397-498.
- Rasgon, N., Shelton, S., & Halbreich, U. (2005). Perimenopausal mental disorders: Epidemiology and phenomenology. *CNS Spectrums*, 10 (6), 471-478.
- Rotem, M., Kushnir, T., Levine, R., & Ehrenfield, M. (2005). A psycho-educational program for improving women's attitudes and coping with menopause symptoms.

  \*\*Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic, and Neonatal Nursing, 34 (2), 233-240.
- Schneider, H.P.G., Heinemann, L.A.J., Rosemeier, H.P., Potthoff, P., & Behre, H.M. (2000). The menopause rating scale (MRS): Comparison with Kupperman index and quality-of-life scale SF-36. *Climacteric*, 3, 50-58.
- Sherman, P.W. (1998). Animal behaviour: The evolution of menopause. *Nature*, 392, 759-761.
- Sievert, L.L., & Espinosa-Hernandez, G. (2003). Attitudes toward menopause in relation to symptom experience in Puebla, Mexico. *Women & Health*, 38 (2), 93-106.
- Silber, S.J. (1991). Effect of age on male fertility. Seminars in Reproductive

  Endocrinology, 9 (3). Retrieved September 22, 2006 from

  http://www.infertile.com/inthenew/sci/maleage.htm
- Smith, K.E., & Judd, H.L. (1994). Menopause and postmenopause. In A.H. Decherney & M.L. Pernoll (Eds.), Current obstetric and gynecologic diagnosis and treatment (pp. 1030-1050). Toronto, ON: Prentice Hall of Canada, Inc.
- Statistics Canada. (2003). *Deaths* (Catalogue no. 84F0211XIE). Ottawa, ON: Statistics Canada. Retrieved September 22, 2006 from http://www.statscan.ca.

- Stewart, D.E., & Boydell, K.M. (1993). Psychologic distress during menopause: Associations across the reproductive life cycle. *International Journal of* Psychiatry in Medicine, 23 (2), 157-162.
- Tabachnick, B.G., & Fidell, L.S. (2007). Using multivariate statistics (5<sup>th</sup> ed.). Toronto: Allyn and Bacon.
- Utian, W.H. (1997). Menopause A modern perspective from a controversial history. Maturitas, 26, 73-82.
- Utian, W.H., Janata, J.W., Kingsberg, S.A., Schluchter, M., & Hamilton, J.C. (2002). The Utian quality of life scale (UQOL): Development and validation of an instrument to quantify quality of life through and beyond menopause. Menopause, 9 (6), 402-410.
- Ware, J.E. & Sherbourne, C.D. (1992). The MOS 36-item short form health survey (SF-36): Conceptual framework and item selection. *Medical Care*, 30, 473-483.
- Woods, N.F, Saver, B., & Taylor, T. (1998). Attitudes toward menopause and hormone therapy among women with access to health care. Menopause: Journal of the North American Menopause Society, 5(3), 178-188.
- Zöllner, Y.F., Acquadro, C., & Schaefer, M. (2005). Literature review of instruments to assess health-related quality of life during and after menopause. Quality of Life Research, 14, 309-327.

# Appendix A: General Information Questionnaire

1) Month of Birth:		2) Year	of Bir	th:			
3) Marital status:							
Married/common law		Single			Dating	$g \square$	
Divorced/separated		Widow	/ed				
4) What is your ethnic back	groun	d?					
Caucasian/White			Middl	e Easte	rn		
African-Canadian/Black			East I	ndian			
Native-Canadian/Aboriginal			Europ	ean			
Hispanic/Latino			Other	(please	specify	·)	
Asian							
5) Are you currently employ	yed?	Yes		No		Retired	
6) If you are employed, do y	you wo	ork:	Full T	ime		Part Time	e 🗆
7) Do you perform any type	of reg	gular chi	ildcare	? Yes		No [	]
8) If yes, how often?		,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,					
9) What is the highest level	of edu	cation t	hat yo	u have	achieve	d?	
Some high school	Some	universi	ty				
High school diploma	Under	rgraduate	e degre	e 🗌			
Some college	Maste	r's Degr	ree				
College diploma	Ph.D.	Degree					
10) How old were you when	you s	tarted n	nenopa	use?			
11) Approximately how lor	ng did	your me	nopau	se last?	<u> </u>	_ years	months
12) Was your menopause s	urgica	lly indu	ced?		Yes	□ N	о 🗆
13) How many times have y	you be	en pregi	nant?				

(i.e. your ovaries removed, cyst removal from your ovaries, etc.)

Yes

No

35) If YES, please elaborate on your trouble with premenstrual distress (PMS):								
36) I believe best answer	* <b>-</b>	nenstrual distress (P	MS) affected n	ny mood: (Circ	le the			
-	Slightly Negatively	In no way at all	~ .	Very Positively				
0	1	2	3	4				
37) Do you S	Smoke? Yes							
38) Did you (check all th	•	e following treatmer	nts during your	· menopausal tr	ansition			
	-	rapy (e.g., estrogen, p remarin, Cenestin, Es	_	· ·	:lla)			
If yes, please	e specify:			<del></del>				
-	ant medication clude: Paxil, E	ffexor, Prozac, Celex	a, Welbutrin, Tr	razodone, etc.)				
If yes, please	e specify:							
(examples in counselling,	clude: Cognitive etc.). Please de	ng (specifically for move-Behavioural Thera o not include therapally for divorce, anx	py, marital there y for other issu	apy, supportive	 t that			

39) My menopausal transition caused me a significant amount of emotional and physical stress:								
1 Strongly Disagree	2	3	4 Neutral	5	6	7 Strongly Agree		
40) I wa	s satisfi	ed witl	n my soo	cial life	during	g my menop	ausal transitio	on:
l Strongly Disagree	2	3	4 Neutral	5	6	7 Strongly Agree		
41) I wa	as satisfi	ed witl	n my lin	e of wo	rk dur	ing my mer	opausal trans	ition:
1 Strongly Disagree	2	3	4 Neutral	5	6	7 Strongly Agree		
42) I fel	t like I l	nad a le	ot of fan	nilial sı	ıpport	during my	menopausal tr	ansition:
1 Strongly Disagree	2	3	4 Neutral	5	6	7 Strongly Agree		
43) I wa	s physic	cally ac	ctive du	ring my	y meno	pausal tran	sition:	
1 Strongly Disagree	2	3	4 Neutral	5	6	7 Strongly Agree		
							t describes you A	
44) I co	uld easil	ly coun	t from (	one to t	wenty-	five.	TRUE	FALSE
45) I ha	ve neve	r talke	d to any	one by	teleph	one.	TRUE	FALSE
46) I m	ake all n	ny own	clothes	and sh	ioes.		TRUE	FALSE
47) Thi	ngs with	sugar	usually	taste s	weet to	me.	TRUE	FALSE

TRUE

**FALSE** 

48) I have never had any hair on my head.

# Appendix B: Menopause Attitude Scale

INSTRUCTIONS: The following sets of adjectives describe feelings some women may experience during menopause. There are no right or wrong answers, only your own opinion. You are asked to indicate the degree to which you think the sets of adjectives are related to feelings a woman may experience during menopause.

<b>FOR</b>	<b>EXAMPLE</b>	

If you think that feelings a woman has during menopause are <u>extremely</u> related to one end of the scale, you might place your check mark as follows:

DURING MENOPAUSE A WOMAN FEELS
Good <u>X : : : : : Bad</u>
If you think that feelings a woman has during menopause are <u>quite</u> related to one end of the scale, you might place your check mark as follows:
DURING MENOPAUSE A WOMAN FEELS
Good : : : : : X : Bad
If you think that feelings a woman has during menopause are <u>slightly</u> related to one end of the scale, you might place your check mark as follows: <u>DURING MENOPAUSE A WOMAN FEELS</u>
Good : : X : : : Bad
If you think feelings a woman has during menopause are related to both ends equally, place your check mark in the middle space.  DURING MENOPAUSE A WOMAN FEELS
Good : : : X : : Bad

# **DURING MENOPAUSE A WOMAN FEELS:**

Important		<u>:</u>	:	:	<b>:</b>	:	·	Unimportant
Passive		_:	:	:	·	:	·	Active
Clean		<b>:</b>	·		·	·	:	Dirty
Fresh		::	:	:	·	· <u> </u>	·	Stale
Dumb		·	::	::	:;	· ·	:	Intelligent
Sharp		. <b>:</b>	•		·	:	•	Dull
Unsure		. <b>:</b>	:	:	•	•	•	Confident
Worthless		<u>.</u>	•	·	·	·	·	Valuable
High		::	·	·	·	·	<u>:</u>	Low
Strong		::	:	:	:		<u>:</u>	Weak
Unattractive		::	·	:			·	Attractive
Pessimistic		:	: :	: :	: :		:	Optimistic
Full		: :			:			Empty
Pleasant			:					Unpleasant
Ugly			•		:			Beautiful
	··	·•	·	·				Unneeded
Useful	-	··					-	Useless
Interesting	-							Boring
Unsuccessful								Successful
Alive								Dead
THAC		:						Deau

# Appendix C: Menopause Experiences Questionnaire

Please rate to what extent the following experiences were part of your menopause by ticking:

Yes (part of my menopause),

Uncertain (whether part of my menopause)

No (not part of my menopause).

Please remember that you are ticking the symptoms experienced during menopause, not at the current time.

	YES	UNCERTAIN	NO
Tiredness		[1]	[ ]
Hot flashes	[]	[]	[]
Aches and pains		[]	
Headaches	[]	[]	[]
Sleep difficulties	[]		
Dizziness	[]	[ ]	[]
Irregular periods		[]	
Depression		[]	[]
Feeling bloated	[ ]	[]	[]
Skin problems		[]	[]
Mood swings			[]
Night sweats	[]	[]	[ ]
Memory loss	[1]		<b>(1)</b>
Heavy periods	[]	[ ]	[]
Anxiety	[3]	[]	<b>[.1</b> ]
Breathlessness	[]	[]	[]
Vaginal dryness	[.]	[]	[]
Decreased sexual interest			[]
Increased weight		[]	(1)
Stiff joints	[]	[]	[]

We are interested in your own personal views of how you see *your menopause*. Please indicate how much you agree or disagree with the following statements about your menopause by ticking: Strongly agree, Agree, Neither agree/nor disagree, Disagree or Strongly disagree.

	Strongly Agree	Agree	Neutral	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
1) Going through menopause has had an impact on my life.	1	2	3	4	5
2) It's a relief to be free from the risk of pregnancy.	1	2	3	4	5
3) At the time, I thought my menopause would last about a year.	1	2	3	4	5
4) The menopause has affected the way I see myself as a person.	1	2	3	4	5
5) Overall, I feel that I coped reasonably well with my menopause.	1	2	3	4	5
6) I feel less confident since the menopause.	1	2	3	4	5
7) At the time, I felt my menopause would last a long time.	1	2	3	4	5
8) If I had problems during the menopause, I knew what I could do to help myself.	1	2	3	4	5
9) I felt more content during this phase of life.	1	2	3	4	5
10) The menopause has affected the way others see me.	1	2	3	4	5
11) I was pleased that periods came to an end.	1	2	3	4	5
12) At the time, I felt more emotional than I did before menopause.	1	2	3	4	5
13) At the time, I felt it was good to be moving into a new phase of life.	1	2	3	4	5
14) At the time, I was confident that I could deal with any changes that my menopause might have brought.	1	2	3	4	5
15) At the time, I believed my menopause would last a short time.	1	2	3	4	5
16) At the time, I believed that my menopause symptoms would improve in time.	1	2	3	4	5

Appendix D: Women's Health Questionnaire

Please indicate how you felt during your menopausal transition, by putting a circle around the number that best describes your experience for each of the following items:

Please remember that you are circling how you felt during menopause, not at the current time.

tine.	Yes,	Yes,	No,	No,
	Definitely	Sometimes	Not much	Not at all
1) I woke up early and then slept badly for the rest of the night.	1	2	3	4
2) I had very frightened or panic feelings for apparently no reason at all.	1	2	3	4
3) I felt miserable and sad.	1	2	3	4
4) I felt anxious when I went out of the house on my own.	1	2	3	4
5) I lost interest in things.	1	2	3	4
6) I got palpitations or a sensation of "butterflies" in my stomach or chest.	1	2	3	4
7) I still enjoyed the things I used to.	1	2	3	4
8) I felt that life was not worth living.	1	2	3	4
9) I felt tense or "wound up".	1	2	3	4
10) I had a good appetite.	1	2	3	4
11) I was restless and couldn't keep still.	1	2	3	4
12) I was more irritable than usual.	1	2	3	4
13) I worried about growing old.	1	2	3	4
14) I had headaches.	1	2	3	4
15) I felt more tired than usual.	1	2	3	4
16) I had dizzy spells.	1	2	3	4
17) My breasts felt tender or uncomfortable.	1	2	3	4
18) I suffered from backache or pain in my limbs.	1	2	3	4
19) I had hot flashes.	1	2	3	4
20) I was more clumsy than usual.	1	2	3	4

	Yes, Definitely	Yes, Sometimes	No, Not much	No, Not at all
22) I had abdominal cramps or discomfort.		2	3	4
23) I felt sick or nauseous.	1	2	3	4
24) I lost interest in sexual activity.	1	2	3	4
25) I had feelings of well-being.	1	2	3	4
26) I had heavy periods.	1	2	3	4
27) I suffered from night sweats.	1	2	3	4
28) My stomach felt bloated.	1	2	3	4
29) I had difficulty getting to sleep.	1	2	3	4
30) I often noticed pins and needles in my hands and feet.	1	2	3	4
31) I was satisfied with my sexual relationship.	1	2	3	4
32) I felt physically attractive.	1	2	3	4
33) I had difficulty concentrating.	1	2	3	4
34) As a result of vaginal dryness, sexual intercourse became uncomfortable.	1	2	-3	4
35) I needed to pass urine/water more frequently than usual.	1	2	3	4
36) My memory was poor.	1	2	3	4
37) I felt lively and excitable.	1	2	3	4

Was it very difficult for you to cope with any of the above symptoms? [] YES [] NO	
If so, which ones:	

Appendix E: NEO Five Factor Inventory

# Please answer the following questions as they apply to you AT THE PRESENT TIME.

	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly Agree
1) I am not a worrier.		2	3	4	5
2) I often feel inferior to others.	1	2	3	4	5
3) When I'm under a great deal of stress, sometimes I feel like I'm going to pieces.	1	2	3	4	5
4) I rarely feel lonely or blue.	1	2	3	4	5
5) I often feel tense and jittery.	1	2	-3	4	5
6) Sometimes I feel completely worthless.	1	2	3	4	5
7) I rarely feel anxious or nervous.	1	2	3	4	5
8) I often get angry at the way people treat me.	1	2	3	4	5
9) Too often, when things go wrong, I get discouraged and feel like giving up.		2	3	4	5
10) I am seldom sad or depressed.	1	2	3	4	5
11) I often feel helpless and want someone else to solve my problems.	I	2	3	4	5
12) At times I have been so ashamed I just wanted to hide.	1	2	3	4	5

For the following questions, please circle TRUE if the statement describes you AT THE PRESENT TIME and FALSE if it does not describe you AT THE PRESENT TIME.

49)	I have never	ridden in	an automobile.	TRUE	FALSE
7/	I Have hevel	Huuch III	an automobile.	INUL	LALDE

51) I have attended school at some time during my life. TRUE FALSE

## Appendix F: Menopause Study Consent Form

This study is being conducted by Suzanne Stone, a Master's candidate in clinical psychology, under the supervision of Dr. D. Mazmanian of the Department of Psychology at Lakehead University. The purpose of this study is to identify how physical and emotional symptoms experienced during the menopause may affect one's attitudes towards the menopausal transition.

- Your participation in this study will involve the completion of several questionnaires that will take approximately 30 to 45 minutes.
- The questionnaires include personal questions about: the symptoms you experienced during menopause, your attitudes towards the menopausal transition, and questions about your sexual and reproductive history.
- Participation in this study is voluntary and you may withdraw at any time without explanation and without penalty.
- All records of your participation will be kept in strict confidence and any reports of the study will not identify you or anyone as a participant.
- As per university requirements, all data will be stored for seven years by Dr. D. Mazmanian at Lakehead University and will remain anonymous and confidential.
- There will be no way that your name can be connected to your responses
- There are no known physical or psychological risks associated with participating in this study.
- There will be several items in the questionnaire that appear odd or unrelated. These items are included for methodological reasons to ensure the accuracy of the data.

I have read and understood the consent form, and I agree to participate in this study under these conditions. By agreeing to participate in this study, I am affirming that I am a woman who has completed my menopausal transition.

Name (please print):	
Signature:	
Date:	

- If you have any questions or concerns regarding this study please contact Suzanne Stone (sstone@lakeheadu.ca) or the supervisor of this study, Dr. Mazmanian (phone:343-8257, email: dwight.mazmanian@lakeheadu.ca).
- Other collaborators in the Menopause Research Group include Dr. Kirsten Oinonen (Assistant Professor of Psychology at Lakehead University) and Dr. Verinder Sharma (Professor of Psychiatry and Professor of Obstetrics & Gynecology at the University of Western Ontario)

# Appendix G: Debriefing Form

The purpose of this study is to determine how the physical and emotional symptoms that a woman experiences during menopause affects both her attitudes toward the menopausal transition and her decision to seek help for her menopausal symptoms (for example: hormone replacement therapy, anti-depressants or psychotherapy/counseling). Past research suggests that women with a greater number of distressing menopausal symptoms and a more negative attitude toward menopause tend to seek hormone replacement therapy (Breheny & Stephens, 2001).

Please be assured that all of your responses are coded to conceal your identity and that all data will remain anonymous.

Listed below are some related references which might be of interest to those who would like further information on the effect of physical and emotional symptoms of the menopause on menopausal attitudes and the decision to seek help during the menopausal transition.

If you would like more information on the results of this study, please fill in your mailing address or email address on the attached mailing label and a summary will be sent to you at the end of this study.

Thank you sincerely for taking the time to participate in this research.

#### **Recommended Readings:**

- Breheny, M., & Stephens, C. (2001). The importance of attitudes in predicting hormone replacement therapy use in mid-aged women in a New Zealand community sample. *Women & Health*, 34 (1), 29-43.
- Ekström, H., Esseveld, J., & Hovelius, B. (2003). Associations between attitudes toward hormone therapy and current use of it in middle-aged women. *Maturitas*, 46, 45-47.
- Woods, N.F, Saver, B., & Taylor, T. (1998). Attitudes toward menopause and hormone therapy among women with access to health care. *Menopause: Journal of the North American Menopause Society*, 5(3), 178-188.

If you have any questions or concerns regarding this study please contact Suzanne Stone (sstone@lakeheadu.ca) or the supervisor of this study, Dr. Mazmanian (phone: 343-8257, email: dwight.mazmanian@lakeheadu.ca).

Other collaborators in the Menopause Research Group include Dr. Kirsten Oinonen (Assistant Professor of Psychology at Lakehead University) and Dr. Verinder Sharma (Professor of Psychiatry and Professor of Obstetrics & Gynecology at the University of Western Ontario)